## BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# NO: 2008-CA-00416

FRANK L. SCHMIDT, JR., ET AL

**APPELLANTS** 

VERSUS

CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF BILOXI, ET AL

**APPELLEES** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

## (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

#### ERIC D. WOOTEN

Vaughn, Bowden & Wooten, P.A. P.O. Drawer 240 Gulfport, MS 39502 Ph: 228-863-5656 Fax: 228-864-8962

HENRY W. KINNEY, pro se Kinney & Ellinghausen 1250 Poydras Street, 24<sup>th</sup> Floor New Orleans, LA 70113 Ph: 504-524-0206 Fax: 504-525-6216

# VIRGIL G. GILLESPIE

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- The Chancellor erred in dismissing the Plaintiffs' case for lack of subject of subject matter jurisdiction.
- (2) The Chancellor erred in failing to strike Bishop Rodi's Affidavit.
- (3) The Chancellor erred in dismissing the Plaintiffs' case with prejudice.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 1, 2007, (157) individuals filed a Complaint in the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi, requesting the Court to determine certain matters involving the title (legal and beneficial) to certain real property and the status of certain personal property.

The property, generally known as St. Paul Catholic Church, Pass Christian, Mississippi, is made up of eight parcels of real property acquired at various times, through various types of documents, beginning with the conveyance of the first parcel to Fr. Stanislaus Buteux, individually, in 1843. The vesting deeds for six of the other parcels contained similar language, <u>expressly providing that the properties were being conveyed to the grantee, as trustee or in trust for the benefit of the members of the congregation of St. Paul Catholic Church, Pass Christian, Mississippi. All of the Church Deeds were acknowledged and</u>

declared before a notary public, or appropriate officer of Harrison County, and all were made part of the public records by their filing with the Office of the Chancery Clerk of Harrison County.

In addition to asking the Chancellor to determine the status of the above mentioned real property, the Plaintiffs requested a ruling on the status of certain funds raised for the repairing of St. Paul Church. As set forth in the Complaint, shortly after the impact of Hurricane Katrina. Rev. Carver, with the assistance of various Parishioners, began soliciting donations specifically for the purpose of repairing St. Paul Church. Over \$1,000,000.00 was received for that specific purpose. Plaintiffs allege that a trust was created for that specific purpose and, therefore, the Chancellor should determine the status of such funds.

All of the property involved, both real and personal, relate to St. Paul Catholic Church located in Pass Christian, Mississippi. Pass Christian, Mississippi is one of the older communities of our State, having been incorporated on February 21, 1848. The establishment of St. Paul Catholic Church on the beach in Pass Christian in 1866 was in the 18<sup>th</sup> year of the City of Pass Christian, the 49<sup>th</sup> year of the State of Mississippi, and the 90<sup>th</sup> year of the United States of America.

St. Paul has seen baptisms, marriages, funerals and great spiritual blessings for generations and generations of Pass Christian Roman Catholics.

And then, on August 29, 2005, the greatest natural disaster to ever impact the United States of America made landfall at Pass Christian, Mississippi and neither the community nor its citizens will ever be the same. This cataclysmic natural disaster desolated the beach front of Pass Christian, Mississippi and left its citizens homeless, without jobs and with a damaged Church.

Nevertheless, there was great rejoicing when the Pastor and the Bishop announced that St. Paul Church would, indeed, be restored. Funds were sought for that specific purpose and money came in specifically for the restoration of the Church.

i

ł

However, three months after Katrina's landfall, on November 27, 2005, the Bishop announced that St. Paul Parish and Our Lady of Lourdes Parish would be combined into a new Parish to be called Holy Family Parish. In that decree, the Bishop stated that Holy Family Parish would have two Parish Church edifices of equal dignity: St. Paul Church and Our Lady of Lourdes Church.

While many of the Parishioners, especially the old-timers, may not have understood the exact reason for the combining of the two Parishes, that action was not questioned since the Bishop, in his decree, had specifically stated that St. Paul would be repaired.

The Court needs to be aware of the fact that recovery in Pass Christian, Mississippi is proceeding very slowly indeed. One who has not experienced such a catastrophe cannot understand the despair that comes with the loss of this magnitude and the feelings of helplessness and hopelessness when recovery does not come quickly, but rather drags on and on.

Then, 16 months later, on March 13, 2007, the Bishop entered another decree stating that there would be no St. Paul, but rather that the Holy Family Parish would have only one Church to be located at the present site of Our Lady of Lourdes.

This was the final blow to many of the Parishioners whose lives had always centered around St. Paul Church on the beachfront in Pass Christian, Mississippi.

This is where these 157 Plaintiffs and Parishioners found themselves after March 15, 2007.

While St. Paul Church is located on the beachfront of Pass Christian, Mississippi, it stands on one of the highest points in Pass Christian, Mississippi and suffered much less damage than most of the homes and businesses in the rest of the City. As a matter of fact, after the storm, Mass continued to be celebrated at St. Paul, and the Church itself was largely intact, needing only to be restored to its former dignity. St. Paul had not been profaned by the storm. It continued to be used as a place of worship and, thus remained a Church, even under canon law.

This history is necessary for an understanding of how we got to this particular place and time and why 157 devoted Catholics would sue their Church, their Bishop and their Pastor. It can only be imagined how much prayer and consternation must have accompanied the individual decisions to take this step. And now having given the Court the historical background of the dilemma faced by these Plaintiffs, it is necessary to comment on matters in the record that almost defy understanding.

İ

While we have a record consisting of some 14 volumes and one packet containing two

documents marked 'Exhibit 1,' most of the Appeal record is nothing more than fluff. The substance of this matter is all contained in the Complaint. If there is to be a decision upon a Rule 12(b)(1)jurisdictional attack, then the Court has only to look to the Complaint to see if the Court, in fact, has been asked to do something which it does not have jurisdiction to do. We really need to go no further in this case. The Complaint and the Exhibits attached thereto clearly set forth the areas of concern and the matters which are sought to be adjudicated by the Court. These matters only involve the title to the property on which St. Paul stands, and the status of those funds that were specifically raised for the restoration of St. Paul. That is all the Plaintiffs ask the Court to do. At this point, there is no need for any factual evidence. As a matter of fact, there was no factual evidence of any substance ever presented to the Chancellor in this matter.

The Court's attention is invited to one factual item that the Chancellor seemed to comment on and either rely upon or not rely upon, depending on which Order one reads. That was the Affidavit of stabu Bishop Rodi. The Court's attention is invited to this Affidavit. See Appellant Record Excerpt (ARE), Tab 5. It sheds no light on the request of the Plaintiffs for determination regarding the title to the real property or the status of the money given in trust for the restoration of St. Paul. Quite frankly, the Court should have stricken this Affidavit, but, instead, as a result of a hearing held on August 3, 2007, the Court ruled on August 8, 2007, that the Affidavit would not be stricken.

The Court's attention is invited to the ruling of the Chancellor made on August 8, 2007 (ARE, Tab 6). It cannot be read in connection with the Final Judgment of the Chancellor handed down on February 27, 2008 (ARE, Tab 7), without causing great confusion and without wondering whether the same person wrote these two Orders. They are diametrically opposed to each other.

On August 8, 2007, Chancellor Zebert recognized that the Plaintiffs were not trying to review the internal ecclesiastical decisions of the Catholic Church, specifically Bishop Rodi's decision to combine the two Parishes. The Court, in regard to that, on Page 3, stated: 'These claims are inherently inaccurate.' Thus, the Chancellor, in August of 2007, recognized that this lawsuit has nothing to do with Bishop Rodi's decision and decree to combine the two Parishes. As a matter of fact, the Chancellor

l

Page 4

end rodit,

al di di tare

specifically stated that the lawsuit presented questions of title to real property and fiduciary responsibility regarding personal property. The Chancellor stated:

Upon review of the Complaint, this Court will note that <u>The Code of Canon Law</u> is not mentioned or questioned. The issues Plaintiffs bring before this Court are purely secular in nature, primarily: (1) Is Bishop Rodi and/or the Catholic Diocese of Biloxi holding title to the real property generally known as St. Paul Catholic Church, and the insurance proceeds, cash deposits and donations and charitable contributions received expressly for St. Paul Church, in trust for the benefit of Plaintiffs, as members of the congregation of St. Paul Catholic Church, Pass Christian, Mississippi? (2) If they are holding such real and/or personal property in trust for the Plaintiffs, do Defendants owe Plaintiffs a fiduciary duty with regard to the management of such property? (3) Do Defendants have the right to ignore the wishes and intentions of donors by diverting donations from their intended purpose to another purpose of Defendants' choosing? and (4) Do Defendants have the right to convert the St. Paul Church building into a diocesan community center?

While the Plaintiffs may have worded the secular issues before the Court somewhat differently,

nevertheless, we will settle for the Court's designation of the issues for the purpose of this Appeal.

After the Chancellor clearly recognized what the lawsuit was all about, he stated: 'Nowhere in the Complaint is there any demand for the Defendants to reopen St. Paul Church.'

The Chancellor recognized that Bishop Rodi's Affidavit incorrectly focused on his authority to consolidate the Parishes. The Chancellor, in referring to the Affidavit, stated: 'The opinions contained in the Affidavit have limited probative value to the issues before the Court.'

Then the Court went even further to state: 'The conclusatory allegations contained in the Affidavit appear to be general statements of fact and which do little more than emphasize Defendants' legal arguments."

So, it can be seen from a careful reading of the August 2007 Order that the Chancellor recognized that the Plaintiffs were not seeking (and have never sought) to question the Church's decision to combine the two Parishes. The Chancellor recognized that there was no request to reopen St. Paul Church and on Page 3 under Paragraph VII, he stated: 'Nowhere in the Complaint is there any demand for the Defendants to reopen St. Paul Church.'

The Chancellor clearly recognized that the Plaintiffs were only asking for the Court to make certain determinations about real property, certain personal property and any trusts which may encumber these properties.

At this point, it must be noted that the only exhibit in evidence in the entire Appeal record is Exhibit 1 (ARE, Tab 4), submitted at the August 3, 2007 hearing (which resulted in the above mentioned Order), and that was the decree of Bishop Rodi dated November 27. 2005, combining the Parishes, and the decree of Bishop Rodi dated March 13, 2007 (ARE, Tab 5), where he decreed that St. Paul Church would not be rebuilt. There is no other evidence in the Record. Yes, there are a lot of discovery answers in the file, however, most of these were not even filed with the Clerk. Each party did give the Chancellor their discovery answers, and the Chancellor must have made these discovery answers as part of the record. The only evidentiary matters before the Court are Exhibit 1 and Bishop Rodi's Affidavit.

If the Court is wondering why Counsel is rambling on and on about this particular aspect of the case, it is to emphasize that there was really no factual proof made in this case, other than the two decrees entered as Exhibit 1 and Bishop Rodi's Affidavit, which the Chancellor had ruled had no real probative value. Yet, in the opinion dismissing this matter for lack of subject matter jurisdiction (ARE, Tab 7), the Chancellor stated that Bishop Rodi's Affidavit overcame the allegations of the Complaint and showed that there was no subject matter jurisdiction. Such a conclusion is not based in fact or in law and represents a total misunderstanding and misapplication of the issues involved and a lack of understanding as to how to apply the prevailing jurisprudence to the jurisdictional question at issue.

And then, without any evidentiary hearing whatsoever, and with only the two decrees and Bishop Rodi's Affidavit, the Court issued its final opinion and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dismissing this case, with prejudice (See, ARE, Tab 7).

The Court is invited to read the Chancellor's first Order dated August 8, 2007 and then read the Chancellor's final decision of February 27. 2008 and reconcile the two together. The Chancellor had no more evidence, no more factual basis before it on the latter date than it did on the former date, yet the two Orders appear to have been written about two different matters.

It is respectfully submitted that on August 8, 2007 the Chancellor accurately recognized the issues before the Court; the fact that they were purely secular in nature; that there was no demand to

open St. Paul Church; and, that this lawsuit involves only the title to real property and the status of certain monies given for the restoration of St. Paul Church after the impact of Hurricane Katrina.

> astasout

And then, we read the Chancellor's Final Judgment of Dismissal, with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, handed down on February 27, 2008. It begins with the following statement: 'The primary issue initially in this lawsuit relates to the Church Defendants' decision to combine St. Paul Catholic Parish and Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Parish." Nothing could be further from the truth. Section Nowhere in the pleadings have the Plaintiffs questioned the Church combining these two Parishes. As a matter of fact, combining these Parishes has nothing to do with anything the Plaintiffs have asked the Court to rule upon. These Plaintiffs recognize the sanctity of the First Amendment and have no desire to delve into or question the internal ecclesiastical decisions of Bishop Rodi or the Catholic Church. The Chancellor recognized this on August 8, 2007, however, he begins his final decision on such a false premise that there can be no doubt but that a decision beginning with such a false premise must be leading toward an erroneous result.

The Court's attention is invited to Page 3 of the Final Judgment, where the Chancellor states: 'Plaintiffs have requested this Court to intervene in the Church Defendants' decision to combine the Parishes and have only one Church.' There is no accuracy to this statement. Nowhere is such a request found in the pleadings, the arguments, or in any paperwork submitted by the Plaintiffs.

Time after time, the Chancellor refers to and quotes Canon Law and applies Canon Law. He interprets Canon Law to determine that St. Paul Church ceased to exist as a Catholic Church upon the impact of Hurricane Katrina. Again, we must emphasize that in August, the Chancellor recognized that there had not been a request to reopen St. Paul, yet he centers his final ruling around the premise that such request had been made. The Plaintiffs do not now ask that St. Paul be opened again as a Church. The Plaintiffs only request a ruling on the status of the title to the land upon which St. Paul is situated and the status of those monies given in trust for the specific purpose of rebuilding St. Paul Catholic Church.

At the top of Page 4 of the Final Judgment, the Chancellor makes a strange finding based on Canon Law, when he says: "...Plaintiffs are no longer members of St. Paul Catholic Parish and were not

members for well over a year before this lawsuit was filed. This appears somewhat brutal, but it is supported by the Canons of the Church.<sup>•</sup> The reason this sounds so strange is that the Plaintiffs are only asking the Chancellor to apply neutral principles of civil law and yet the Chancellor, in many areas of his Final Judgment, makes decisions based on his interpretation of Canon Law.

The Chancellor was incorrect in Pages 4 and 5 of his opinion under his first breakdown of 'Conclusions of Law' when he ruled that the Plaintiffs had not <u>fulfilled</u> their burden to establish that this Court had jurisdiction over the dispute with the Church Defendants. He said that the Plaintiffs had the burden of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence that jurisdiction exists. There was no evidentiary hearing held in this matter. The lack of evidence has already been commented upon. There are no disputed issues of material fact with which the Chancellor had to reckon with. The Bill of Complaint specifically set forth the specific deeds, either by way of attachments or by *way* of deraignment of title, and clearly sets forth how those deeds have established a trust. It also clearly established (and this was not refuted) that the monies given to rebuild St. Paul were given in trust for the specific purpose of rebuilding a specific Church.

The Chancellor, on Page 11 of his Final Judgment, made a finding that the property in question had been transferred to Holy Family Catholic Parish. While the Appellants do not presume to speculate as to the results of a final hearing that would determine the status of the title to these properties by the application of neutral principals of law, is it not strange that the Chancellor appears to be ruling on title matters without the benefit of any type of an evidentiary hearing? This is quite disturbing.

ł

i.

The Plaintiffs feel that a recent Mississippi case is dispositive of almost all of the issues in this case, and that is <u>RomanCatholicDiocese of Jackson vs. Morrison</u> 905So.2d 1213 (MS Supreme Court 2005). In that case, it was recognized that the trial Court must accept as true all well-pled factual allegations of the Plaintiffs' Complaint and then proceed to try the jurisdictional issues. The Chancellor had already done this in his August ruling and clearly set forth that they were all secular in nature and had nothing to do with the decision of the Bishop to combine the Parishes and had nothing to with the decision to close St. Paul Church. We are at a loss to understand how the Chancellor in this case could say that the Plaintiffs have not fulfilled their burden of proof when only a well-pled Complaint was necessary.

On Pages 5 and 6 of this Final Judgment the Chancellor addresses Constitutional issues. These Plaintiffs are not asking the Court to interpret ecclesiastical dogma. There is no excessive entanglement in making these decisions. And then, in a statement that defies understanding, the Chancellor, on Page 9, says that this lawsuit does not involve a property ownership dispute. That is directly contrary to his initial ruling and directly contrary to the allegations contained in the Complaint. That is all this lawsuit involves. On Page 11, the Chancellor dismisses this case and states that it is impermissible to examine whether the Church Defendants' decision to form Holy Family Catholic Church was a misuse of Church funds. That has nothing to do with what we are talking about.

The Court's attention is invited again to these two rulings of the Court and the Court is invited to reconcile the two and to understand how the Chancellor could come to such a conclusion in view of the request made in the Complaint and the issues asked to be resolved. All one has to do in order to get a firm grip on the issues presented in this case is to read <u>Roman Catholic Diocese ofJackson vs. Morrison</u> Supra, and <u>Church of God Pentacostal vs. Free Will Pentacostal</u>, 716 So.2d 200 (MS Supreme Court 1998). Upon these two cases hang all the law and jurisprudence of the State of Mississippi.

2 name!

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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