#### BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-00416

FRANK L. SCHMIDT, JR., ET AL.

APPELLANTS

**VERSUS** 

THE CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF BILOXI, INC.; MOST REVEREND THOMAS J. RODI, AS BISHOP OF THE CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI AND AS PRESIDENT OF THE CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF BILOXI, INC.; AND REV. DENNIS CARVER, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PASTOR OF ST. PAUL CATHOLIC CHURCH, PASS CHRISTIAN, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

## (ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

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

## Dismissal of Complaint for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction

The Chancellor properly dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Although the core of this dispute is an internal disagreement relating to Church Defendants' decision not to rebuild the former St. Paul Catholic Church after it was profaned during Hurricane Katrina, Plaintiffs attempt to circumvent the First Amendment by claiming this matter is no more than a property dispute. However, their argument is not supported by any jurisprudence. Simply because a piece of property is involved in a dispute – here the former St. Paul Catholic Church – it does not mean the lawsuit is a "property dispute." Additionally, Plaintiffs' pleadings and their actions, are further evidence that this lawsuit is an internal church struggle, which is beyond the Court's subject matter jurisdiction.

Even if the Court considered this lawsuit to be a property dispute (which it is not), neutral principles of property law cannot be used to resolve this action in the manner sought by Plaintiffs. In Bishop Rodi's November 27, 2005 decree, he stated that as a result of the merger of St. Paul Parish and Our Lady of Lourdes Parish that all former St. Paul Catholic Church's assets, which includes the former church building, were transferred to Holy Family Parish. Additionally, the property deed which Plaintiffs claim made Bishop Rodi trustee for the alleged

of Canon Law). For this Court to attempt to address Plaintiffs' claims, the Court would be forced to examine The Code of Canon Law. As such, the Chancery Court properly dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

Plaintiffs' Complaint also includes allegations that Church Defendants' decision to form Holy Family Parish was a misuse of church funds. Plaintiffs state that the Church Defendants' decision was not in the "best interests" of the members of the parishes and was "fiscally irresponsible." R. 30. The Chancery Court properly held that it was impossible to address these issues without examining The Code of Canon Law. R. 1690-1692. These issues are matters that require ecclesiastical inquiry, and are therefore, beyond the Court's subject matter jurisdiction.

The Chancery Court did not err in dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint because it is no more than a dispute between a few parishioners and their church leaders. Courts have repeatedly declined to accept jurisdiction over claims involving church-minister disputes because the relationships touch upon religious doctrine, canon law and church polity. Court have held that such disputes are "per se" a religious matter. Under The Code of Canon Law, there is a specific process to be followed when a parish is closed and/or altered. Bishop Rodi followed the proper church procedures, and therefore, the Chancery Court did not err in dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint.

Plaintiffs also attempt to avoid the First Amendment by claiming that Church Defendants breached a fiduciary duty owed to them as parishioners. Civil Courts have consistently rejected these type of claims because in order to determine if such a duty was breached, the court would first have to define the proper duty of care owed to the Plaintiffs by the Church Defendants.

Also, a civil court is prevented from considering issues relating to membership. Accordingly, the Chancery Court did not err in dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint.

While they are not clear as to the type of trust created, Plaintiffs also allege in their Complaint that a "trust" has been created under Mississippi law, and that neutral principle of law can be applied to determine Plaintiffs' rights under the alleged trust. Such claim is baseless. First, an express trust does not exist under Mississippi law because the alleged trust does not satisfy Mississippi Code § 91-9-1, et seq., including § 91-9-7. Second, a resulting trust does not exist under Mississippi law because it is undisputed that Plaintiffs did not pay for the church parcels at the time the parcels were conveyed. Third, a private trust cannot exist under Mississippi law, as the alleged trust would clearly violate the rule against perpetuities, and therefore, any alleged trust would be void. Fourth, even if this Court were to find that a charitable trust exists, charitable trusts have no individual beneficiaries so Plaintiffs cannot claim to be beneficiaries under a charitable trust. Finally, regardless of any type of trust Plaintiffs claim was created, in order for Plaintiffs to be considered the beneficiaries of the trust – and in order for them to have standing to bring this lawsuit - Plaintiffs must be members or beneficiaries of the alleged trust. Here, Plaintiffs must be members of the parishes or congregations referenced in the deeds at issue. The law prevents this Court from determining the disputed issues of whether Plaintiffs are members of the referenced parishes or congregations. This determination is for church law only. Such a decision is beyond the Court's subject matter jurisdiction.

Plaintiffs also argue that Church Defendants have violated Mississippi's regulations for charitable solicitations. See Miss. Code § 79-11-501, et seq., "Regulation of Charitable Solicitations." While Church Defendants maintain that they have at all times complied with Mississippi law and The Code of Canon Law, Plaintiffs' argument nonetheless fails as a matter of law. Under the statute, most religious organizations, including Church Defendants, are

expressly excluded from the section. The religious organization exception is yet another clear example of the State's reluctance to become entangled in matters of religion.

Finally, Plaintiffs rely on Mississippi Code § 89-1-17 for their argument that because the initial deeds in the chain of title of the former St. Paul Catholic Church site do not specifically state that the conveyance was made in accordance with <u>The Code of Canon Law</u> that Bishop Rodi cannot later impose such condition upon the subsequent beneficiaries. However, Plaintiffs' interpretation is again flawed because the statute does not state that a person may not convey his interest in a piece of property with certain requirements or other limitations. As such, Plaintiffs' argument fails as a matter of law.

Accordingly, the Chancery Court properly dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

## Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Bishop Rodi

The Chancellor properly denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Bishop Rodi. In accordance with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, the Church Defendants attached the Affidavit of Bishop Rodi in support of their Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. In a "factual attack," the defendant challenges the existence of subject matter jurisdiction irrespective of the pleadings.

Bishop Rodi's affidavit simply clarified many of the points contained in Plaintiffs' Complaint. Church Defendants' use of the affidavit was not to address the merits of Plaintiffs' claims, but rather, to demonstrate to the Court that Plaintiffs' claims fall outside of the subject matter jurisdiction of the Chancery Court. As such, the Chancery Court properly denied Plaintiffs' motion.

### Dismissal of the Case with Prejudice

The Chancery Court properly dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint with prejudice. The First Amendment Doctrine of Church Autonomy not only deprives the Chancery Court of Harrison County of subject matter jurisdiction, but it effectively deprives all courts of jurisdiction. Accordingly, the Chancellor properly dismissed the case with prejudice.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

## I. Dismissal of Lawsuit for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction

"It is widely – indeed, universally – accepted . . . that courts of appeal, when reviewing Rule 12(b)(1) dismissals by district courts, for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, exercise *de novo* review over legal conclusions. However, appellate courts examine jurisdictional findings of fact by the trial courts only for clear error on the part of the district court." Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 3d §1350 (2004). "[T]his Court will not disturb the findings of the trial court unless they are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Scaggs v. GPCH-GP, Inc., 931 So. 2d 1274, 1275 (2006) (citing Bell v. City of Bay St. Louis, 467 So. 2d 657, 661 (Miss. 1985)); see also Keyes v. Berry, 2008 WL 4981086, at \*2 (Miss. App. Nov. 25, 2008). Accordingly, the legal conclusions of the Chancery Court should be reviewed under the *de novo* standard, but the factual findings by the Chancery Court should not be disturbed absent a finding of "clear error."

## II. Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Bishop Thomas J. Rodi

When reviewing a lower court's decision to allow or disallow evidence, this Court utilizes an abuse of discretion standard. Webb v. Braswell, 930 So. 2d 387 (Miss. 2006); Hudson v. Palmer, 977 So. 2d 369, 377 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Ultimately, the decision of whether to strike an affidavit lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. John Mozingo Real Estate & Auction Inc. v. Nat'l Auction Group Inc., 925 So. 2d 141, 148 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. The Chancellor Properly Dismissed Plaintiffs' Lawsuit for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

Subject matter jurisdiction is a threshold issue which the trial "court must determine . . . first, before determining the merits of the case." Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env't., 523 U.S. 83, 84 (1998); 2 Moore's Federal Practice, §12.30[1] (3d ed. 2001). Subject matter jurisdiction must always be proper and can never be waived. Id. "It is widely – indeed, universally – accepted . . . that courts of appeal, when reviewing Rule 12(b)(1) dismissals by district courts, for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, exercise de novo review over legal conclusions. However, appellate courts examine jurisdictional findings of fact by the trial courts only for clear error on the part of the district court." Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure; Civil 3d §1350 (2004).

When, as here, the Church Defendants support a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction with an affidavit, the Plaintiffs have the burden of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence that jurisdiction exists. Kizer v. Fin. Am. Credit Corp., 454 F. Supp. 937, 938 (N.D. Miss. 1978). "[A] plaintiff bears the unquestioned burden of establishing jurisdiction where the question of the sufficiency of his jurisdictional allegations is before the court on a motion to dismiss." Id. See also Rosemound Sand & Gravel Co. v. Lambert Sand & Gravel Co., 469 F.2d 416, 418 (5th Cir. 1972) (holding that when a plaintiff's allegations of jurisdiction are questioned, "the burden is on the plaintiff to prove jurisdiction").

With the filing of Church Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, and supporting affidavit, the Plaintiffs have the "unquestioned burden of establishing jurisdiction." Plaintiffs have failed to meet their burden, and therefore, the lower court was correct in dismissing their Complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

## A. This Lawsuit Has Nothing to Do With a Property Dispute.

In a retreat from their averments contained in their Complaint, Plaintiffs have attempted to reclassify this lawsuit as a property dispute. Nonetheless, whether classified as a property dispute or an internal struggle between a few parishioners and their church leaders, this lawsuit cannot be resolved by applying neutral principles of law.

# 1. <u>Plaintiffs' argument that this matter is a property dispute is not supported by any jurisprudence.</u>

This lawsuit cannot be classified as a property dispute involving a church split between two rival factions claiming ownership over church real estate. At the core of this dispute is an internal disagreement relating to the Church Defendants' decision not to rebuild the former St. Paul Catholic Church. Simply because a destroyed building (former St. Paul Catholic Church) is involved, it does not mean this lawsuit is necessarily a "property dispute." See Canovaro v. Brothers of Order of Hermits, 191 A. 140, 146 (Pa. 1937) (stating that "The decision of the proper ecclesiastical tribunals [to suppress a parish] must be accepted by the civil courts unless it violates the civil law or is plainly in disregard of the church canons, even though it touches directly upon property rights which fall within the jurisdiction of civil courts.").

In Church of God Pentecostal, Inc. v. Freewill Pentecostal Church of God, Inc., 716 So. 2d 200, 204 (Miss. 1998), a case which clearly involved a "property dispute" between rival factions, the local congregation and minister continued to use church property for services after the national church organization defrocked the minister and refused to recognize the local congregation as part of the organization. The national organization filed a lawsuit against the local congregation claiming the national church organization was the rightful owner of the property. Even though the Court ultimately was able to apply neutral principles of law in order to determine property ownership, the Court stated:

Civil courts have the general authority to resolve the question of church property ownership. The first amendment to the United States constitution, however, severely circumscribes the role that civil courts may play in resolving church property disputes. The first amendment, therefore, forbids civil courts from resolving church property disputes by inquiring into and resolving disputed issues of religious doctrine and practice.

Id. At 204 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Plaintiffs' citation of Freewill Pentecostal and other "property dispute" cases to support their position in this lawsuit is misplaced. In Freewill Pentecostal, the court determined which rival faction – the local congregation or the national organization – owned the church property. After it determined the ownership issue, the Court withdrew from the dispute to avoid excessive entanglement. Here, there are not two rival factions claiming ownership interest in the same church property. Rather, there are 157 disgruntled parishioners (out of a congregation of approximately 700) who claim that the Church Defendants' decisions relating to the use of the property and buildings constituted a breach of a fiduciary duty.

Assuming arguendo, the Church Defendants hold the church property in trust for the Plaintiffs (which they do not), the Plaintiffs' seek further relief from the Chancery Court relating to the best use of the property and buildings. Such deliberations undoubtedly will cause excessive entanglement (discussed more fully below), and it will be impossible for this Court to make the requested determinations by applying neutral principles of the law.<sup>4</sup>

# 2. <u>Plaintiffs' actions belie their claims that this is a property dispute.</u>

Although Plaintiffs retreat from their averments contained within their Complaint and now argue that this case is purely a "property dispute," and although Plaintiffs now refuse to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Plaintiffs request the Court to direct the actions of the Bishop as trustee in their best interests and in a manner that is "agreeable" to them. R. 34. If the Court awarded the Plaintiffs the requested relief, the Court would be become excessively entangled with the church.

challenge the Church Defendants' authority to merge St. Paul and Our Lady of Lourdes Parishes, Plaintiffs' actions and statements suggest that their true intent is otherwise. R. 1415.

At the same time Plaintiffs filed this action in Chancery Court, Plaintiffs' counsel and several plaintiffs appealed the Church Defendants' decision to close the former St. Paul Catholic Church to the Vatican, or as Plaintiffs describe it in their Complaint, the decision relating to "changing the use of the Church site from a parochial use to a secular use." R. 33-34; see also Tr., Vol. 2, 110, 117 and 145. On November 30, 2007, the Vatican's Congregation for the Clergy issued a decree rejecting Plaintiffs' appeal. Id. As noted by the Chancery Court in its final order dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, "In addition to filing this action, Plaintiffs' counsel and several lead Plaintiffs appealed the Church Defendants' actions through the Catholic Church's ecclesiastical tribunals. The Vatican determined that Bishop Rodi followed The Code of Canon Law of the Roman Catholic Church in the actions he took." R. 1682.

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